IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA
Supreme Court No. 17-1237

IN THE MATTER OF PROPERTY SEIZED
FOR FORFEITURE FROM
BO LI, NA TIAN, & WEI TIAN.

BO LI, NA TIAN, & WEI TIAN,
Claimants.

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT
FOR DUBUQUE COUNTY
THE HON. MICHAEL J. SHUBATT, JUDGE

APPELLANT'S BRIEF

THOMAS J. MILLER
Attorney General of Iowa

LOUIS S. SLOVEN
Assistant Attorney General
Hoover State Office Building, 2nd Floor
Des Moines, Iowa 50319
(515) 281-5976
Louie.Sloven@iowa.gov

RALPH POTTER
Dubuque County Attorney

BRIGIT BARNES
Assistant Dubuque County Attorney

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT

FINAL

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

I. **Is Practicing Massage Therapy Without a License a Serious Misdemeanor?**

Authorities

Lamasters v. State, 821 N.W.2d 856 (Iowa 2012)
Meier v. Senecaut, 641 N.W.2d 532 (Iowa 2002)
Neal v. Annett Holdings, Inc., 814 N.W.2d 512 (Iowa 2012)
State v. Adams, 810 N.W.2d 365 (Iowa 2012)
State v. Alvarado, 875 N.W.2d 713 (Iowa 2016)
State v. Halliburton, 539 N.W.2d 339 (Iowa 1995)
State v. Johnson, 528 N.W.2d 638 (Iowa 1995)
State v. Lewis, 514 N.W.2d 63 (Iowa 1994)
State v. Perry, 440 N.W.2d 389 (Iowa 1989)
State v. Reed, 618 N.W.2d 327 (Iowa 2000)
Thomas v. Gavin, 838 N.W.2d 518 (Iowa 2013)
Thoms v. Iowa Pub. Emp. Ret. Sys., 715 N.W.2d 7 (Iowa 2006)
Iowa Code § 147.2
Iowa Code § 147.2(1)
Iowa Code § 147.86
Iowa Code § 152C.4
Iowa Code § 152C.4(1)
Iowa Code § 152C.4(1)(d)
Iowa Code § 152C.5 (1999)
Iowa Code § 4.4(2)
Iowa Code § 809A.3(1)(a)
Iowa Code § 809A.4(4)
Iowa Admin. Code r. 645-134.5
1998 Iowa Acts ch. 1053 § 22
2000 Iowa Acts ch. 1185, § 1
2000 Iowa Acts ch. 1185, § 4
2000 Iowa Acts ch. 1185, § 5

II. Did District Court Err in Concluding That the Evidence Was Insufficient to Show That the Seized Money Was Forfeitable Proceeds of Prostitution?

Authorities

In re Prop. Seized from Chiodo, 555 N.W.2d 412 (Iowa 1996)

In re Prop. Seized from DeCamp, 511 N.W.2d 616 (Iowa 1994)

In re Prop. Seized from Rios, 478 N.W.2d 870

(Iowa Ct. App. 1991)

In re Prop. Seized from Thao, No. 14–1936, 2016 WL 1130280

(Iowa Ct. App. Mar. 23, 2016)

Lamasters v. State, 821 N.W.2d 856 (Iowa 2012)

Iowa Code § 809A.12

Iowa R. Evid. 5.801(c)

ROUTING STATEMENT

This statutory construction issue has not yet been resolved by any Iowa appellate court. As such, this case is a suitable candidate for supreme court retention. *See Iowa R. App. P. 6.1101(2)(c).*

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case:

This is an appeal from an order denying the State's in rem forfeiture complaint and dismissing the forfeiture action. Property was seized from claimants who are connected to Therapeutic Spa. Claimants insist that the money is proceeds from massages given by Na Tian and Wei Tian, who are not licensed massage therapists—but the State's investigation of Therapeutic Spa uncovered evidence that the purported masseuses were actually engaging in prostitution. The State also alleged that practicing massage therapy without a license is a serious misdemeanor under sections 147.2 and 147.86.

The district court was not convinced by the State's evidence regarding prostitution. It also held that section 152C.4 supplanted the default serious misdemeanor classification by creating a civil penalty for practicing massage therapy without a license. *See Ruling (7/28/17); App. 195.* Based on that, it dismissed the forfeiture action. The State appealed, and that ruling was stayed. *See Order (9/1/17); App. 204.*

The State argues this forfeiture action was dismissed in error. The State presented clear evidence that Therapeutic Spa was a front for prostitution services, which continued to be provided long after the claimants purchased Therapeutic Spa from its previous owners. More importantly, the district court was incorrect when it construed the relevant statutes: practicing massage therapy without a license is a serious misdemeanor, and these funds are still subject to forfeiture even if the claimants' testimony is taken at face value.

Course of Proceedings & Statement of Facts:

On February 14, 2017, investigators executed a search warrant and seized \$16,278 from Bo Li; they seized \$858 from his girlfriend, Wei Tian; and they seized \$4,341 from her sister, Na Tian.

Bo testified that he purchased Therapeutic Spa from its previous owners on September 6th, 2016. *See* Transcript (5/9/17) p.5,ln.22–p.7,ln.12. Bo stated the seized money was proceeds from Therapeutic Spa, but he denied that prostitution occurred while he owned the business. *See* Transcript p.11,ln.12–23; p.17,ln.16–p.21,ln.13.

Bo said he gave some of the massages, but he said “the need for a male masseuse is very rare”—and then he clarified that Na Tian and Wei Tian were the only ones who really gave massages. *See* Transcript

p.7,ln.25–p.8,ln.20. Bo recognized unlicensed massage therapy “does kind of draw certain, you know, sexual innuendos.” *See* Transcript p.8,ln.21–p.9,ln.15. Therapeutic Spa had an active bank account with Premier Bank, but the vast majority of their business funds were kept in cash in their shared residence. *See* Transcript p.11,ln.12–p.14,ln.14.

Wei Tian and Na Tian admitting to giving those massages at Therapeutic Spa without being licensed massage therapists. *See* Transcript p.36,ln.20–p.38,ln.25; Transcript p.40,ln.14–p.42,ln.14.

Dubuque Drug Task Force supervisor Dave Hauptert stated that law enforcement began investigating Therapeutic Spa in July 2016, based on “information and complaints from neighboring businesses that they were hearing noises from the business which appeared to them to be sexual-type noises.” *See* Transcript p.45,ln.7–18. Their investigation over the internet turned up advertisements that offered massages at Therapeutic Spa—and those advertisements were placed on Craigslist, Backpage, and Rubmaps, which are commonly used by “sexual businesses or individuals who are soliciting sex.” Transcript p.45,ln.25–p.46,ln.13. Investigator Hauptert said Therapeutic Spa was listed on Rubmaps “[a]s of about a month or two ago.” *See* Transcript p.47,ln.1–p.49,ln.22.

Investigators who conducted surveillance at Therapeutic Spa never saw *any* female customers—“[w]e only observed males coming and going.” *See* Transcript p.59,ln.24–p.60,ln.6; *see also* Transcript p.74,ln.2–p.75,ln.1. Those investigators had also observed someone “coming out of the Therapeutic Spa placing a garbage bag in the trunk of the car,” so they conducted a seizure and analysis of the contents of that trash bag after it was placed in the garbage at Bo’s residence. *See* Transcript p.51,ln.2–18. There was no DNA analysis ordered because investigators “had no idea who all the parties were”—but the forensic analysis showed two items in the bag tested positive for seminal fluid. *See* Transcript p.51,ln.19–p.54,ln.3; State’s Ex. 8; App. 32.

When the warrant was executed and the money was seized, all three claimants admitted they were not licensed to practice massage therapy in the State of Iowa. *See* Transcript p.54,ln.13–p.55,ln.23. Investigators also found “very minimal documentation of scheduled appointments,” along with a “credit card machine.” *See* Transcript p.55,ln.24–p.56,ln.7. The claimants were keeping more than \$16,000 in “plain white business envelopes in various amounts,” of around \$1,000 to \$2,000. *See* Transcript p.56,ln.17–p.57,ln.2. This money and the way it was kept was noteworthy to Investigator Haubert:

In my experience, it's very odd for individuals to keep that amount of cash while running a business. It is an indicator that there is potential money laundering going on or it is an attempt to hide the assets of that business. I found it striking that on some of those envelopes the dates were October 2016, which, to me, shows that that money has been attempted to be concealed rather than placed in a bank account.

In my experience, when individuals continuously deposit large amounts of money, it is an indicator of potential illegal activity, because generally, in today's day and age, businesses will not only use cash but will use credit cards and electronics. And with valid accounts, it's common to bring money in in large amounts, but not in \$20 bills or various denominations. So in my experience in prostitution cases and in drug cases that I've worked, money — cash money will be kept on hand so as not to raise red flags with banks because there's no paper trail then and there's no lower or upper limits of how much you're depositing.

See Transcript p.57,ln.3–p.58,ln.2; *cf.* Transcript p.73,ln.2–16.

There were also “numerous prepaid Amazon cards and prepaid MasterCard cards,” which was similarly indicative of illegal activity—it indicated an intent to launder money and conceal its origins:

To have a larger quantity of these cards is something I have not commonly seen, but a common reason for this is to launder money for cash or illegal businesses who bring in money. As I previously said, rather than depositing into accounts, which may throw off red flags with the bank, they can go buy prepaid cards, You can also provide the card number and the key code on the back to anybody you want worldwide and they can use that card. You're not dealing with wiring money, transferring money, depositing money, which are all — could be red flags in investigations similar to this.

. . . [R]eceipts were found for several of these cards in the denominations of 69, 72, \$85, in those ranges, multiple cards bought on the same day at Wal-Mart. . . [I]t raised a red flag with us that this amount of cards is being purchased, particularly together.

See Transcript p.59,ln.17–p.60,ln.23; *cf.* Transcript p.71,ln.4–18.

In April 2017, an undercover officer conducted a successful sting operation, resulting in the arrest of a woman who solicited that officer for sex in a hotel room at the Hilton Garden Inn in Dubuque.

See Transcript p.62,ln.13–p.64,ln.3. Officers searched that hotel room and found a business card for Therapeutic Spa in the woman's purse.

See Transcript p.63,ln.12–p.65,ln.7; State's Ex. 19; App. 36. While seemingly innocuous, this was significant when viewed in context:

At that time, knowing what we know and through training and experience in massage parlor, erotic massage parlor investigations, the women come and go routinely. They may be here for a month or two months, and then they'll be gone and somebody else new will come in. So one of my first thoughts was this may be or may have been one of the females who has worked in the spas in our area previously who we had never identified.

See Transcript p.65,ln.8–22. Additionally, a printed advertisement for Therapeutic Spa was found when investigators searched two other massage parlors in Dubuque where prostitution was discovered. *See* Transcript p.65,ln.23–p.67,ln.11; State's Ex. 20; App. 37.

Additional facts will be discussed when relevant.

ARGUMENT

I. **The District Court Erred in Finding That the Offense of Practicing Massage Therapy Without a License Is Not a Serious Misdemeanor.**

Preservation of Error

The State made this argument below. *See* Brief (5/24/17) at 2–3; App. 178–79. The district court’s ruling considered this argument and rejected it. *See* Ruling (7/28/17) at 2–4; App. 196–98. Thus, error was preserved. *See Lamasters v. State*, 821 N.W.2d 856, 864 (Iowa 2012).

Standard of Review

Generally, “matters of statutory construction” are reviewed for errors at law. *State v. Johnson*, 528 N.W.2d 638, 640 (Iowa 1995).

Merits

Iowa Code chapter 147 sets out generally applicable provisions dealing with licensing requirements and procedures. Section 147.2(1) states “massage therapy” may not be practiced “unless the person has obtained a license for that purpose from the board for the profession.” *See* Iowa Code § 147.2(1). Later in the chapter, section 147.86 states:

Any person violating any provision of this subtitle, except insofar as the provisions apply or relate to or affect the practice of pharmacy, or where a specific penalty is otherwise provided, shall be guilty of a serious misdemeanor.

See Iowa Code § 147.86. The district court found a “specific penalty” that supplanted section 147.86 in section 152C.4, which states:

The board, or its authorized agents, may inspect any facility that advertises or offers the services of massage therapy. The board may, by order, impose a civil penalty upon a person who practices as a massage therapist without a license issued under this chapter or a person or business that employs an individual who is not licensed under this chapter. The penalty shall not exceed one thousand dollars for each offense. Each day of a continued violation after an order or citation by the board constitutes a separate offense, with the maximum penalty not to exceed ten thousand dollars. . . .

Iowa Code § 152C.4(1); *see also* Ruling (7/28/17) at 2–4; App. 196–98.

That section does provide for a civil penalty, but it does not render section 147.86 inapplicable here. An indefinite civil penalty that the board of massage therapy may impose under this section is not a “specific penalty otherwise provided” that supplants section 147.86 for *all* of chapter 152C—and it does not affect section 152C.5.

The district court noted that the same legislative enactment that listed massage therapy as a profession requiring a license to practice under section 147.2 also revised section 152C.4 to provide guidelines pertaining to that indefinite civil penalty. *See* 2000 Iowa Acts ch. 1185, §§ 1, 4; *cf.* Ruling (7/28/17) at 3; App. 197. Considered in a vacuum, that seems to indicate a legislative intent to supplant section 147.86.

However, that legislative enactment *also* revised section 152C.5. *See* 2000 Iowa Acts ch. 1185, § 5. Previously, that section prohibited the use of words/titles that falsely implied that a person was licensed to practice massage therapy—and it provided a similar civil penalty. *See* Iowa Code § 152C.5 (1999). This legislative enactment amended section 152C.5 by replacing it with clear, unequivocal language that describes a crime, *without* providing any specific penalty.

The practice of massage therapy as defined in section 152C.1 is *strictly prohibited* by unlicensed individuals. It is *unlawful* for a person to engage in or offer to engage in the practice of massage therapy, or use in connection with the person’s name, the initials “L.M.T.” or the words “licensed massage therapist”, “massage therapist”, “masseur”, “masseur”, or any other word or title that implies or represents that the person practices massage therapy, unless the person possesses a license issued under the provisions of section 152C.3.

See 2000 Iowa Acts ch. 1185, § 5 (emphasis added); *accord* Iowa Code § 152C.5 (2017). By placing language prohibiting unlicensed practice of massage therapy in two separate sections—one with a discretionary civil penalty, and one without—the legislature signaled a clear intent to allow *both* designated institutional actors to take part in enforcing this basic licensure requirement: the board of massage therapy may issue civil penalties, county attorneys may bring criminal prosecutions, or *both* may occur if deemed appropriate by the specified actors.

This result comports with principles of statutory construction— if the legislature provides two different penalties for the same conduct in multiple sections, Iowa courts will recognize an intent to authorize multiple punishment under the principle that “[t]he entire statute is intended to be effective.” *See* Iowa Code § 4.4(2); *State v. Halliburton*, 539 N.W.2d 339, 344 (Iowa 1995) (“We must now consider whether the legislature intended multiple punishments for both crimes: we conclude it did. . . . Only by imposing cumulative punishments can we give effect to the possession alternative of section 724.26.”); *see also* *State v. Lewis*, 514 N.W.2d 63, 69 (Iowa 1994). Reading section 152C.4 to preclude application of section 147.86 would reduce section 152C.5 to mere surplusage, which is a disfavored result. *See* *Thomas v. Gavin*, 838 N.W.2d 518, 524 (Iowa 2013) (“Normally we do not interpret statutes so they contain surplusage.”); *Neal v. Annett Holdings, Inc.*, 814 N.W.2d 512, 520 (Iowa 2012) (quoting *Thoms v. Iowa Pub. Emp. Ret. Sys.*, 715 N.W.2d 7, 15 (Iowa 2006)) (stating Iowa courts “will not read a statute so that any provision will be rendered superfluous”). Therefore, although section 152C.4 does provide a civil penalty, the rule against surplusage demands that section 147.86 apply to classify any violation of section 152C.5 as a serious misdemeanor.

Moreover, this result is correct when “statutes that were violated serve differing purposes.” *State v. Reed*, 618 N.W.2d 327, 336 (Iowa 2000) (citing *Halliburton*, 539 N.W.2d at 344). Section 152C.4 only authorizes a civil penalty, but “[e]ach day of a continued violation after an order or citation by the board constitutes a separate offense, with the maximum penalty not to exceed ten thousand dollars,” based partially on “[t]he economic benefits gained by the violator as a result of noncompliance.” See Iowa Code § 152C.4(1)(d). This provision “focuses on reducing the economic power of those who engage in ongoing illegal business for profit” by disincentivizing *all* parties—including the employers of any unlicensed massage therapists—from continuing to operate in defiance of an order from the board. See *Reed*, 618 N.W.2d at 336; Iowa Code § 152C.4 (providing that civil penalty may be imposed upon “a person who practices as a massage therapist without a license issued under this chapter or a person or business that employs an individual who is not licensed under this chapter”). In contrast, section 152C.5 labels unlicensed practice “unlawful” and “strictly prohibited.” See Iowa Code § 152C.5. But those harsh words are coupled with a singular focus on the practitioners as “individuals,” and it makes no mention of their employers—which strongly suggests

an intent to limit the scope of any actual *prosecution* to practitioners while extending financial liability for civil penalties to any supervisors or businesses who employ them. *Compare* § 152C.4(1), *with* § 152C.5. The legislature placed these two provisions in separate sections, and both sections describe the penalized conduct in different terms with different limits on imputed liability; these are clear indications that the legislature intended to authorize civil penalties under section 152C.4 *and* criminal prosecutions under section 152C.5, via section 147.86.¹

¹ The district court’s ruling did not mention section 152C.5. However, the State made this same argument in its trial brief.

Section 147.86 is also mandatory, as it states that the violation shall be a serious misdemeanor. By contrast, section 152C.4 is discretionary, as the board of massage therapy “may” impose a civil penalty. Section 152C.5 states that the practice of massage therapy is “strictly prohibited by unlicensed individuals.” It is thus reasonable to conclude that the legislature intended unlicensed individuals be prosecuted criminally, in addition to being fined civilly.

See Brief (5/24/17) at 3; App. 179, 185, 191.

The district court acknowledged the State’s argument that this was a situation where “the same action can subject a person to criminal and civil punishment.” *See* Ruling (7/28/17) at 3; App. 197. Any potential error preservation concerns are alleviated by the fact that the court digested and addressed the argument in the State’s brief, even if it did not cite section 152C.5 in its ruling. *See Lamasters*, 821 N.W.2d at 864 (quoting *Meier v. Senecaut*, 641 N.W.2d 532, 540 (Iowa 2002)) (“If the court’s ruling indicates that the court *considered* the issue and necessarily ruled on it, even if the court’s reasoning is ‘incomplete or sparse,’ the issue has been preserved.”).

The district court found that section 152C.4 was “plain and unambiguous,” which would halt the analysis before reaching any question of legislative intent or statutory construction. *See* Ruling (7/28/17) at 3. But the district court failed to realize there were *two* parallel sets of plain and unambiguous language in play. It is true that section 152C.4 unambiguously authorizes imposition of a civil penalty. But section 152C.5 provides additional unambiguous language that defines certain conduct as “unlawful” and “strictly prohibited”—and it extends to some conduct that section 152C.4 does not reach (such as the use of words/initials to falsely suggest licensure) while declining to impute liability to employers. By omitting any specific penalty for violating this provision, it triggers similarly unambiguous language in section 147.86, designating that violation as a serious misdemeanor. There is no “plain language” argument that bolsters the court’s logic—the plain language of these statutes authorizes both civil penalties *and* serious misdemeanor prosecutions, as the State argued below.

Note that section 152C.5 states “[i]t is unlawful for a person to engage in *or offer to engage* in the practice of massage therapy . . . unless the person possesses a license.” *See* Iowa Code § 152C.5 (emphasis added). Nothing in section 152C.4 sets out any penalty for

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