IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

SUPREME COURT NO. 17-1237

Dubuque County No. 01311 SPCR122820

Dubuque County No. 01311 SPCR122821

Dubuque County No. 01311 SPCR122822

IN THE MATTER OF PROPERTY SEIZED
FOR FORFEITURE FROM
BO LI, NA TIAN & WEI TIAN.

BO LI, NA TIAN & WEI TIAN,
Claimants-Appellees.

Appeal from the Iowa District Court for Dubuque County

The Honorable Michael J. Shubatt, Judge.

APPELLEES' FINAL BRIEF

CHRISTOPHER M. SOPPE AT0007496
PIONEER LAW OFFICE
1635 Associates Dr., Suite 102
DUBUQUE, IA 52002
TELEPHONE: (563)583-9101
FACSIMILE (563) 583-9103
chris@pioneerlawoffice.com

PROOF OF SERVICE

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

ARGUMENT

- I. The District Court did not err in finding that the offense of practicing massage therapy without a license is not a serious misdemeanor.**

PRESERVATION OF ERROR:

Error was preserved by the filing of the timely notice of appeal.

STANDARD OF REVIEW:

The Court reviews statutory construction for errors at law. *State v. Lamoreux*, 875 N.W.2d 172, 176 (Iowa 2016).

DISCUSSION:

In interpreting a statute the primary goal is to give effect to the intent of the legislature. *Id.* at 177. The Court will give words their ordinary meaning in the absence of legislative definition. *State v. Walker*, 804 N.W.2d 284, 290 (Iowa 2011). The Court seeks a reasonable interpretation

which will best effectuate the purpose of the statute. *State v. Johnson*, 528 N.W.2d 638, 640 (Iowa 1995).

Forfeiture statutes are not favored under Iowa law and will be strictly construed. *State v. Dykes*, 471 N.W.2d 846, 847 (Iowa 1991). To uphold a forfeiture there must be a substantial connection between the property and the crime. *Id.* The Court must not use conjecture or speculation to tie the cash seized with the illegal activity. *State v. \$10,000 Seized from Mary Patrick*, 562 N.W.2d 192 (Iowa Ct. App. 1997). The conduct giving rise to forfeiture must be a public offense that is at least a serious misdemeanor. Iowa Code §809A.3(1)(a).

The State filed an In Rem Forfeiture Complaint against Bo Li, Wei Tian and Na Tian. (In Rem Forfeiture Complaint; App. 8-13). The only reason stated on the Complaint for the forfeiture was that, “[p]roperty was acquired from or is the proceeds of a crime.” (Forfeiture Complaint; App. 8-13). The State never specifically stated from what crime the proceeds arose.

During the forfeiture trial there was testimony that Bo Li, Wei Tian nor Na Tian had a massage therapy license. (Tr. p. 8, lines 2-4; p. 36, lines 20-24 and p. 40, lines 14-18). The State argued that because the Claimants

did not have a massage license pursuant to Iowa Code §147.2 that any proceeds from performing massages are forfeitable.

Iowa Code §147.86 states what the penalties are for violating any provision of the subtitle.

Iowa Code § 147.86 states,

Any person violating any provision of this subtitle, except insofar as the provisions apply or relate to or affect the practice of pharmacy, *or where a specific penalty is otherwise provided*, shall be guilty of a misdemeanor. *Emphasis added.*

Iowa Code §147.86 does not apply because there is a specific penalty provided for massage therapists in chapter 152C. This penalty can be found in Iowa Code §152C.4. Iowa Code §152C.4 states that practicing massage therapy without a license is not a crime, but that a civil penalty may be imposed. Iowa Code §152C should be applied to massage therapists and not Iowa Code §147.86. Iowa Code §147.86 specifically states that this provision shall not apply “where a specific penalty is otherwise provided”. *quoting* Iowa Code §147.86.

Chapter152C of the Iowa Code is titled Massage Therapy. Iowa Code §152C.3 list the requirements for licensure. Iowa Code §152C.4 lists the penalty for practicing as a message therapist without a license. Iowa Code §152C.3 states that, “[t]he board, may, by order, impose a civil penalty upon

a person who practices as a massage therapist without a license issued under this chapter or a person or business that employs an individual who is not licensed under this chapter. The penalty shall not exceed one thousand dollars for each offense.” Iowa Code §152C.4 does not make practicing as a massage therapist without a license a crime, but subject to a civil penalty. Since Iowa Code §147.86 does not apply to the practice of massage therapy without a license then it is not a serious misdemeanor. If it is not a serious misdemeanor then the State cannot base its forfeiture on those grounds.

The State argues that reading section 152C.4 to preclude application of section 147.86 would reduce section 152C.5 to surplusage, which is disfavored. The State then argues that any violation of section 152C.5 is a serious misdemeanor. However, this is not the case as nothing in chapter 152C refers to a violation being a serious misdemeanor and section 152C.5 discusses using the words “licensed massage therapist” in advertisements which is not prohibited in section 147.2.

A comparison can be made between Iowa chapter 152D and chapter 152C. Iowa chapter 152D specifically deals with athletic training. Iowa Code §152D.8 specifically states that a “person who violates a provision of this chapter is guilty of a serious misdemeanor.” The Legislature

specifically provided for a criminal penalty under chapter 152D but chose not to provide a specific criminal penalty for practicing massage therapy without a license.

Practicing massage therapy without a license is not a serious misdemeanor and not subject to a forfeiture action.

The State argues that *offering* to engage in the practice of massage therapy without a license is prohibited by section 152C.5 and nothing in section 152C.4 sets out a penalty for *offering* to engage in the practice of massage therapy and thus a forfeiture action could be based on *offering* to engage in the practice of massage therapy. (Emphasis added). This is a wide reading of the code sections. Nothing in section 152C.4 sets out any penalties for *offering* to engage in the practice of massage therapy.

Secondly, there was no evidence offered that Bo Li, Wei Tian or Na Tian specifically only offered massage therapy to anyone. There was evidence that the Claimants gave massages but there was no specific evidence that they only offered massages to any person.

II. The District Court did not err in determining that the State failed to prove, by a preponderance of the evidence, that the funds were proceeds of prostitution.

PRESERVATION OF ERROR:

Error was preserved by the timely filing of the notice of appeal.

STANDARD OF REVIEW:

The Court reviews forfeiture actions for correction of errors at law. *In re Property Seized from Chiodo*, 555 N.W.2d 412, 414 (Iowa 1996). The court views the evidence in the light most favorable to sustaining the district court judgment and the trial court's findings are construed liberally in order to support its result. *State v. Dykes*, 471 N.W.2d 846, 847 (Iowa 1991).

DISCUSSION:

Forfeiture statutes are not favored under Iowa law and will be strictly construed. *State v. Dykes*, 471 N.W.2d 846, 847 (Iowa 1991). To uphold a forfeiture there must be a substantial connection between the property and the crime. *Id.* The Court must not use conjecture or speculation to tie the cash seized with the illegal activity. *State v. \$10,000 Seized from Mary Patrick*, 562 N.W.2d 192 (Iowa Ct. App. 1997). The conduct giving rise to forfeiture must be a public offense that is at least a serious misdemeanor. Iowa Code §809A.3(1)(a).

In the present case there is no substantial connection between the cash seized and prostitution. Bo Li purchased the Therapeutic Spa from Hong Zhou on September 6, 2016. (Claimant's Exhibit C, page 10; App. 66).

Prior to Bo Li's purchase of Therapeutic Spa the State started an investigation into sexual misconduct. (Tr. p. 45, lines 7-12). The State admitted that Bo Li, Wei Tian and Na Tian did not own the spa at the time the investigation was started. (Tr. p. 69, lines 10-17).

The State investigators never stopped anyone coming in or out of Therapeutic Spa until after the search warrant was issued. (Tr. p. 70, lines 3-6). By this time the cash had already been seized. The investigators never had an undercover agent go inside Therapeutic Spa to see if any sexual services were offered. (Tr. p. 70, lines 22-24).

During the State's surveillance of Therapeutic Spa they conducted an internet investigation. (Tr. p. 45, line 25-p. 46, line 3). The State offered internet screen shots from an internet site titled "Rub Maps" as evidence of prostitution services being offered. (State's exhibits 1, 3-6; App. 26, 27-30). The State also admitted a screen shot from Craig's List. (Exhibit 20; App. 37) Nowhere on the exhibits are sexual services offered for money. Secondly, there is no way to know when these Rubmap advertisements were placed on the internet and who placed them on the internet. Exhibit 6 states that it was posted on June 20, 2016. (State's Exhibit 6; App. 30). This is two months before Bo Li purchased Therapeutic Spa. The Craig's List

exhibit had a date of October 30, 2015. (Exhibit 20; App. 37). Officer Hauptert testified that the Craig's List ad goes back to October 2015. (Tr. p. 75, lines 15-24). Again this is well before Bo Li purchased Therapeutic Spa.

The majority of the evidence supplied by the State regarding web pages is dated prior to September 6, 2016, when Bo Li purchased Therapeutic Spa. None of the web page evidence after September 6, 2016 point to prostitution.

Wei Tian testified that she tried to have Therapeutic Spa removed from the website Rubmaps.com. (Tr. p. 33, line 9-p. 34, line 6). Wei Tian mailed a letter to Rubmaps.com requesting that Therapeutic Spa be removed from that website. (Exhibit D; App. 68).

The State made a big issue out of Wei Tian and Na Tian taking garbage from Therapeutic Spa and disposing it at their residence. (Tr. p. 81, lines 1-17). Officer Bock along with other officers seized the garbage bag after it was placed outside at 1908 Judson. (Tr. p. 81, lines 18-22). The Officers found strips of toilet paper that appeared to have dried semen on them along with strips of toilet paper that appeared to have dried blood or possibly fecal matter. (Tr. p. 82, lines 6-13). A laboratory analysis

confirmed that there was semen on the toilet paper. (State Exhibit 8; App. 32).

The State argued that finding semen on strips of toilet paper was evidence of prostitution. However, Wei Tian provided a plausible explanation for the soiled toilet paper. Wei Tian testified that Therapeutic Spa was not allowed to use the big dumpster by their store. (Tr. p. 34, lines 14-25). The big dumpster was paid for by the hair salon next door and the hair salon would not allow Therapeutic Spa to use the dumpster. (Tr. p. 34, lines 14-25 and tr. p. 35, line 21-p. 36, line 13). Officer Bock testified that during his surveillance he never saw the two female employees put garbage in the dumpster. (Tr. p. 82, lines 19-21). This corroborates the testimony given by Wei Tian that they could not use the dumpster and had to take their garbage home for removal.

Also, Wei Tian testified that in China persons normally throw away soiled toilet paper instead of flushing it down the toilet. (Tr. p. 35, lines 1-10). It was common for Wei Tian, Bo Li and Na Tian to throw soiled toilet paper in the garbage.

Finally, Wei Tian and Bo Li were girlfriend and boyfriend. (Tr. p. 35, lines 11-20). Wei Tian testified that the semen on the toilet paper would

have come from them. (Tr. p. 35, lines 11-20). The parties engaged in sexual relations at the business. It should be noted that it was never determined whose semen was on the toilet paper.

Wei Tian and Na Tian taking the garbage to their residence for disposal was not evidence of prostitution, but their normal way of disposing of garbage. Therapeutic Spa did not have access to the dumpster behind the building as they did not pay for the garbage services. So to dispose of their garbage they took it home and put it out with their home garbage. In China it is common to throw away soiled toilet paper. If the Claimants' wanted to dispose of evidence of prostitution they could have flushed the toilet paper down the toilet. Finding garbage bags with toilet paper containing fecal matter is not evidence of prostitution.

The State offered evidence that during the investigation the officers only witnessed males coming from Therapeutic Spa and that is somehow evidence of prostitution. (Tr. p. 59, line 24-p. 60, line 6). However, Wei Tian testified that Therapeutic Spa kept customer sheets identifying the names of the customers. (Tr. p. 30, line 10-p. 31, 10 and Claimant's Exhibit A; App. 38). The customer sheets showed many female names that would have received massages. (Claimant's Exhibit A; App. 38). The surveillance

of Therapeutic Spa was not 24 hours and there would have been many times where no officers were surveilling Therapeutic Spa. (Tr. p. 74, lines 2-14). Officer Bock testified that during his surveillance the officers were a distance away and couldn't positively identify each worker coming out. (Tr. p. 75, lines 6-14). It is very possible then that they could not identify the sex of each customer due to the distance.

The State argues because there was cash found at the residence that it must be the proceeds of prostitution. Wei Tian testified that she and her sister were saving money to start a dress store. (Tr. p. 31, line 21-p. 32, line 12). Having envelopes of cash is not evidence that the cash was proceeds from illegal activity. Likewise, prepaid credit cards are not evidence of conducting illegal activity.

Finally, the State argues that a business card for Therapeutic Spa that was found in the purse of a person arrested for prostitution is evidence that Bo Li, Wei Tian and Na Tian were involved with prostitution. (Tr. p. 63, line 12-p. 64, line 13). The person arrested was named Deng Lihua. (Tr. p. 65, lines 1-5). The business card was found during the execution of a search warrant on April 28, 2017. (Tr. p. 63, line 12-15). This was after the State had filed the In Rem Forfeiture Complaint. Any evidence of the business

card is irrelevant as to the forfeiture as it was discovered months after the forfeiture was started. Secondly, the officers investigating Therapeutic Spa did not know if Deng Lihua ever worked at Therapeutic Spa. (Tr. p. 75, lines 2-5).

Bo Li and Wei Tian were in a loving relationship. (Tr. p. 20, lines 2-7). Bo Li would not want his girlfriend to provide sexual acts to other men. (Tr. p. 20, lines 2-7).

The State did not meet its burden that the cash seized was proceeds from prostitution. The State did not prove there was a substantial connection between the cash and that prostitution was occurring beyond mere conjecture and speculation. The District Court did not err in denying the Forfeiture complaint.

III. The District Court erred in denying the Claimant's Application for Seized Property.

PRESERVATION OF ERROR:

The Claimants' filed a separate Application for Seized Property and this application was denied by the District Court. The Application for Seized Property was argued during the hearing and in Claimants' Trial Brief. (Claimants' Trial Brief; App. 165-174). Thus, error was preserved. *See Lamasters v. State*, 821 N.W.2d 856, 864 (Iowa 2012).

STANDARD OF REVIEW:

Statutory interpretation is reviewed for correction of errors at law.

Iowa R. App. 6.907. Any constitutional claim is reviewed de novo.

Ames Rental Prop. Ass'n v. City of Ames, 736 N.W.2d 255, 258 (Iowa 2007).

DISCUSSION:

On February 14, 2017, the State not only seized cash from the Claimants but also seized electronic and documents as stated in the Application for Return of Property. (Application for Return of Property; App. 20-25) The State never included this property in their In Rem Forfeiture Complaint. The State never gave notice of the seizure of the electronics and never gave the owners the filing requirements as stated in Iowa Code §809.5(d). The Claimants each filed an Application for Return of Property. (Application for Return of Property; App. 20-25).

Iowa Chapter 809 and 809A deal with seized property. “The seizing agency shall serve notice by personal service or by sending the notice by

restricted certified mail, return receipt requested, to the last known address of any person having an ownership or possessory right in the property.”

Iowa Code §809.5(1)(a). Property seized for forfeiture shall be released to the owner if the prosecuting attorney fails to file a notice of pending forfeiture against the property within 90 days or file a judicial forfeiture proceeding within 90 days. Iowa Code §809A.8(1)(a).

The State never included the electronics on their In Rem Forfeiture Complaint. (In Rem Forfeiture Complaint; App. 8-13). The State never gave notice to the Claimants as stated in Iowa Code §809.5. As the date of the hearing the Claimants had not been charged with any crime. The property was not needed for any criminal investigation and should have been returned to the Claimants.

CONCLUSION

Failure to have a massage license is not a serious misdemeanor and as such is not a forfeitable offense. Iowa Code §152C.4 provides a specific penalty for failure to have a massage license and Iowa Code §147.86 does not apply. Secondly, the State did not prove that the cash seized was proceeds from prostitution. The State only showed suspicions and conjecture which is not enough to grant a forfeiture of funds. Thus the cash

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